HISTORY OF EDGERLEY HOMESTEAD, 11 EDGERLEY AVE

VOLCANIC ROCK FOREST ORIGINS

Maungawhau/Mount Eden is the highest of the volcanoes in Auckland city at 196 metres. At the base of the mountain, on the northeast side, there is a substantial area of native forest on a 19,000-year-old basalt lava flow, the largest surviving patch of volcanic material thrown up by nearby Mt Eden.  Below this, the valley was heavy Waitemata clay, fertilised by dispersed volcanic ash
. 

MAORI SETTLEMENT 

"Maungawhau", means "Mountain of the Whau tree". Whau (enteleaarborescens) is a small tree that occurs in coastal forests. During the period of Maori inhabitation, the lower slopes of Maungawhau were used as gardens and living terraces. 

It is likely that some of the trees in the area may have been planted by the Maori inhabitants of Maungawhau. Both karaka and puriri trees are often found in association with village sites. Conifers are not found on this lava flow, but may have been present on the adjoining soils of Newmarket, if its Maori name "Okoare" (place where the young kauri grows) is a reflection of the vegetation present.   

SINCE EUROPEAN SETTLEMENT
A Crown Grant, of land in the area now called Epsom, dated 21 December 1844 for 6 acres 2 roods was issued to John Kelly and Frederick Whitaker.  This land was transferred to John Edgerley on 15 December 1851.  On 10 June 1848 John Edgerley obtained a crown grant of 5 acres adjoining this Kelly/Whitaker grant. 

John Edgerley was born about 1814, probably in Upper Arley, then Staffordshire and worked as a gardener at Arley Hall. He migrated to New Zealand in 1834 on the sailing ship Emma Eugenia ex the Downs, arrived en route at Sydney 10 May 1835 and reached the Hokianga 30 July.  He spent the years to 1841 at Horeke in the Hokianga as gardener/botanist for Lieutenant Thomas McDonnell, who had been appointed an additional British Resident in New Zealand - they had travelled out together. 
There are records in England of John Edgerley sending plant specimens and live plants to Kew Gardens, Mr. A. B. Lambert and the Earl of Mountnorris.  Edgerley returned to England and was at Arley Hall again in April 1842, he married Sarah Newnham at Upper Arley on 27, December, 1842 and they travelled on the Tyne arriving at Hobart August 1843. 

When John Edgerley sailed for England in 1842 he took back a collection of New Zealand plants for Kew Gardens. 
 In return the director of Kew, Sir William Hooker, undertook to provide him with a wide range of flowering shrubs (six casefuls) for setting up his nursery on this land in Epsom.  Edgerley requested the following plants: “Rhododendrons, camellias, arbutus or strawberry tree, laurustine, Portugal laurel, common laurel, azaleas, a plant or two of lilac, wisteria sinensis, tree paeonia, with a few plants of fuschias – corymbiflora if you can spare it, ribes sanguine, magonmliagrandiflora, deutzia scabra, box for hedging, with a few good roses, white moss if you can spare it, ajuba japonica, cedar of Lebanon, jasminum…acorns, chestnuts, hawthorn berries or any other seed you thought would germinate, also a small collection of good flower seeds with fir cones”
.  Although roses, flowering seeds and annuals had been imported by early missionaries, their planting concentrated on practical plants such as fruit trees, shelter trees and crops.  Certainly this was the first importation of rhododendrums, camellias, azaleas, lilac and wisteria into New Zealand
. 

At the land in Epsom, including the land now known as 74 and 66 Gillies Ave, he established a nursery which he worked till he died in 1849 at 35 years. By 1848 he was advertising twenty four types of apple trees, six types of plum trees, twenty four types of cherry trees, four types of pear trees, five types of peach trees, seven types of nectarines and three types of apricot trees as well as a variety of other plants. Two uncommon New Zealand shrubs bear Edgerley’s name. PomaderrisprunifoliaFenzlvaredgerleyi and Psuedopanaxedgerleyi.

John and Sarah had two boys, John born 26 July 1846 and William born 4 April 1848.  A daughter Sarah was born in 1850. John’s wife Sarah died in June 1895 aged 83
.  The land remained in the hands of their sons
.

In 1903 the Edgerley family sold the upper part of their land – that bordering Domain road ( now Gillies Ave) to George Goldsboro architect (now 66 Gillies Ave) for £196 and part to Alfred Kidd (now 74 Gillies Ave) for £180.  Like Highwic, these properties were chosen because the building platforms, on land rising up the slopes of Mt Eden, had views across the valley and down to the harbourAround this period, Mr Goldsboro built Mrs Wilson’s house at 66 and Mr Kidd built my house at 74 to designs by Mr Goldsbro’
.The entrances were from Domain Rd now called Gillies Avenue. The land must have been wooded with volcanic rock forest as there is the large stump of a mature puriri tree under the Kidd house.  

. 

To summarise, from 1848, and possibly from 1843, there was a garden with botanical specimens on this site for over 150 years.  The garden is horticulturally important because it was started by the former botanist to the British Resident at the time of the founding of Auckland and improved by his children for 50 years, then the Kidd Family developed and maintained a showpiece garden for over 100 years. From 1903 right up to 2000, there was an annual garden party held for different charities, which included 

In 1965 the Newmarket Viaduct was created, destroying the view down the valley to the sea and making Gillies Ave into a motorway on and off ramp.  It demolished several homes in Gillies Ave and a whole street of houses below it.  The noise caused many residents and the Carlton Bowling Club to move.

Neither The Newmarket Heritage Study, (Report to Focus Newmarket group, Dinah Holman, February 1996), B&C Shaw’s submission nor Historic Places Trust’s submissions make any mention of the Grade B listed Alfred Kidd house on the adjoining land to 76 Gillies nor the fact that the “contiguous “ land was in fact an integral part of the Edwardian garden of 74 Gillies Ave and still retains trees and garden layout relating to the Grade B listed Alfred Kidd house.  

In the decision of 26 February 2009 under amendments to Plan Change 196, submission 26/1 to alter the zoning from 6a – one residence per 1000 m - to 8c – highly intensive high rise of up to six stories - was accepted.  This decision was not communicated to Paul Waite.

In July 2010 the former garden of 74 Gillies Ave, 76 Gillies Ave, is sold by A&C Shaw to Runcorn Hotel Development Corporation, a China based development company.  The deal for the entire site was in the region of $22million.

In October 2010 the small cottage by G S Goldsbro’ at 21 Alpers Ave, which was formerly part of the property at 74 Gillies Ave and bought by A & C Shaw Ltd then onsold to Runcorn Hotel Development Corporation upon Paul Waite had submitted a scheduling request in March 2010, was removed from the site.

On 16 January 2011, in a telephone conversation with staff of Thresher Urban Design and Landscape Architecture, who have been contracted by Runcorn Hotel Development Corporation to assist them with their planning application, Paul Waite learns that their initial proposals do not include retention of any trees or historic buildings but Runcorn has proposed highly intense development of the site. 

11 Edgerley Ave. Built around 1900, when part of the land was subdivided, on the Edgerley family nursery, orchard and building yard, the house was renovated circa 1940 by a Californian architect and appeared in NZ House & Garden as a suitable remodelling of a Victorian villa into a neo-Georgian home.  It remains intact as re-designed in 1943.  John Edgerley’s son was one of the first white people born in Auckland (1846).  He was apprenticed to the building trade, serving in the Remuera and Parnell Volunteers during the land wars, then moved to the Thames gold fields, Fiji and Melbourne.  In the early 1880’s he went into business with his brother William, settling on the land at Epsom and running a building business. From 1895 the Edgerley brother were conspicuous attenders at the annual meetings of Epsom ratepayers, usually held in William Edgerley’s workshop. John Edgerley was elected to the Epsom Road Board in 1901 and served until April 1920. John  Edgerley died on 1 October 1942 aged 97. 
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�George Selwyn Goldsbro’ was the son of Dr Charles Field Goldsboro, who had emigrated to New Zealand in 1860, serving as a surgeon during the New Zealand Wars. George studied under R. Mackay Fripp from 1884 to 1888.  Fripp  had arrived in Auckland in 1881 from Canada,  opened an architectural office and later became the secretary of the Auckland Society of Arts, where he introduced architecture classes and competitions.  In 1888 Fripp returned to Canada and Goldsbro’ left for Australia.  Goldsbro’ worked in Sydney and Melbourne under Sulman & Power, Howard Joseland and Theo Kemnis, all important architects of the time. In 1896 Fripp joined Goldsbro in partnership in Auckland. Fripp and Goldsbro’ were the first architects to work in the Arts and Crafts style in New Zealand. They designed in a derivation of Australian Federation architecture, introducing the use of shingles, curved bay windows and terracotta roof  tiles. Goldsbro’ was the Hon Architect to the Anglican Diocese and in 1909 the firm designed the main building of Auckland Girls Grammar School. 





